FILED
Feb 22, 2017
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

Review of Division I Cause #74354-6-I consolidated with Cause #74355-4-I

No. 94203. C

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN DOE G, JOHN DOE I, and JOHN DOE H, as individuals and on behalf of others similarly situated,

Respondents,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, STATE OF WASHINGTON

Appellant,

V.

DONNA ZINK, a married woman,

Appellant.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY SUPREME COURT

DONNA ZINK Pro Se Appellant P.O. Box 263 Mesa, WA 99343 (509) 265-4417 dlczink@outlook.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Donna Zink, a pro se appellant in this cause of action. Zink respectfully asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals published opinion, terminating review as designated in section II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Zink seeks review of *John Doe G*, *John Doe I and John Doe H v. Department of Corrections v. Donna Zink*, No. 74354-6-I, ___ Wash. App. ___, __ P.3d ___ (2017) WL 319048 (January 23, 2017), a published decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals. A motion for reconsideration has been submitted through U.S. postal service on the date the motion was to be filed in the court and as such was untimely filed pursuant to Rules of Appellate procedure (RAP) 18.6(c). The decision of Division I was filed within the last 30 days (RAP 13.4(a)). A copy of the opinion is attached to this request for review at Appendix A; pages A1 through A23.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is a court required to apply all requirements of RCW 42.56.540 in determining whether to enjoin public records?
- 2. Are Special Sex Offender Sentencing Alternative (SSOSA) evaluations sentencing documents open to the public under the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 Chapter 9.94A RCW or health care information under RCW 42.56.360(2) and Chapter 70.02 RCW?
- 3. Does the opinion properly the define "Patient" and "Healthcare Provider" and interpret RCW 42.56.360(2) as intended by our Legislature?

- 4. Is the Department of Corrections (DOC) a healthcare provider subject to the mandates of RCW 70.02.020(1)?
- 5. Are SSOSA evaluations exempt from disclosure to the public?
- 6. Does the decision of Division I distinguishes between requesters in violation of RCW 42.56.080?
- 7. Under the strongly worded mandate of the Public Records Act (PRA), is reduction of public records by public agencies optional and are records exempt if an agency refuses to reduct confidential information and disclose the remaining information in the document?
- 8. Is allowing parties to file lawsuits anonymously without an identified sealing rule or statute, application of General Rule (GR 15) or the *Ishikawa Factors* implicate the Washington State Constitution Article 1, §10?
- 9. Are convicted criminals entitled to a privacy right or confidentiality in their identity as convicted criminals?
- 10. Does the language in RCW 42.56.540 prohibit Class Action to enjoin entire classes of records?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose out of a request made by Donna Zink on July 28, 2014, to the DOC for access to SSOSA evaluations related to those convicted of sex offenses (A1; A6). On August 6, 2014, DOC delayed release of the requested records until September 18, 2014 (CP 192).

On September 16, 2014, John Doe G, I and H (collectively Doe), a class of Level I sex offenders compliant with registration, filed a class action suit to enjoin the requested records from production (A1). On October 3, 2014, the Honorable Judge Linde of the King County Superior Court sealed the identity of the offenders without application of GR 15 and the *Ishikawa Factors* (A7; A15-16)

and certified a class of Level I sex offenders to enjoin records under RCW 42.56.540 (A7; A20).

On November 6, 2015, the Honorable Judge Chun of the King County Superior Court ordered the permanent injunction of all SSOSA evaluations of Level I sex offenders, who had complied with their conditions of supervision, as of the date of Zink's request (A1; A7). Zink timely appealed to Division I.

On January 23, 2017, Division I filed a published opinion of their review of the issues surrounding the exemption of the requested SSOSA evaluations, sealing court records without application of the *Ishikawa Factors*¹ and certification of a class under the strict mandates of the PRA (A1-23). Division I determined the SSOSA evaluations are part of the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981, providing a sentencing alternative for first time sex offenders (A2). An offender is granted a suspended prison sentence of up to 11 years under the SSOSA if the trial court finds the community will benefit from community-based treatment, rather than prison-based treatment,² based on any given offender's background, history, social and economic circumstances and psychological condition (A3).

DOC does not receive SSOSA evaluations from a medical provider and does not use the SSOSA evaluation to treat a medical condition (A5). The DOC receives SSOSA evaluations from the Prosecuting Attorney in order to supervise

¹ Although Zink's request for review included argument for the application of General Rule (GR) 15, the Court of Appeals only addressed the issue of application of the *Ishikawa Factors*.

² In re Det. of Taylor, 132 Wn. App. 827, 134 P.3d 254 (2006).

offenders receiving a community based SSOSA sentence who are not in prison (A5). Division I, citing to a twelve-year-old study, noted that SSOSA sentences are effective and have the lowest recidivism rate. Yet, only 35% of offenders met the statutory criteria to receive SSOSA sentencing. Finally, Division I noted that Level I offenders pose the lowest risk to the public (A6). Based on these facts, Division I mandated that:

[B]ecause each evaluation necessarily includes a diagnosis of the offender's mental conditions, it contains confidential health care information under Washington Uniform Health Care Information Act (UHCIA). Without redaction of this information, they are thus exempt from PRA disclosure. Because experience and logic show that allowing plaintiffs to use pseudonyms in these circumstances does not implicate the Washington Constitution, the trial court did not err in allowing the plaintiffs to proceed under pseudonyms. And because the PRA does not prohibit plaintiffs from suing as class representatives, the trial court did not err in certifying the class here."

(A1-2). Division I did not determine whether Doe is named in the record or whether the record specifically pertains to Doe, whether an examination of the records is clearly not in the public interest and whether review would substantially and irreparably damage any person, or would substantially and irreparably damage any vital governmental function as required by RCW 42.56.540.

The decision and mandate of Division I is in conflict with numerous Supreme Court Decisions and published opinions of the Court of Appeals, makes final and binding mandates concerning significant questions of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington (Article 1, §10) and involves issues of substantial public interest that are better determined by the Supreme Court.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE EXCEPTED

1. Grounds for Direct Review

Rules of Appellate Procedure (RAP) 13.1 allow a party to request discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision terminating review. A petition for review will be accepted only if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington is involved or the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court (RAP 13.4(b)(1-4))). Our courts are required to be mindful of Legislative intent and Supreme Court mandates interpreting that intent even if opposed (*Newton v. Pac. Highway Transp. Co.*, 18 Wn.2d 507, 515, 139 P.2d 725 (1943)). As argued below, Division I published a decision in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court and published decisions of the Court of Appeals, a significant question of law under the Washington State Constitution, Art. 1, §10 is involved and the decision involves issues of substantial public interest.

2. The Request Is a Public Record Request to a Public Agency for Public Sentencing Documents and Not Medical Records From a Medical Provider

Division I opined that SSOSA evaluations can have more than one purpose (A12) stating that "the Supreme Court's decision in *Koenig v. Thurston County*, 175 Wn.2d 837, 287 P.3d 523 (2012) does not dispose of Doe's medical exemption argument since the issue of exemption as medical records was not properly raised; citing to *Berschauer/Phillips Constr. Co. v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No.*

I, 124 Wn.2d 816, 824, 881 P.2d 986 (1994)(A8, fn. 24). Division I's opinion, designating SSOSA evaluations to be medical records ignores the fact that the Supreme Court determined SSOSA evaluations to be sentencing documents. Even if a SSOSA evaluation has more than one purpose, Zink's request is for the purpose of obtaining public criminal sentencing records (RCW 42.56.010(3)) maintained by a penal agency (RCW 42.56.010(1)), found by the Koenig Court to be sentencing documents used by a sentencing court to sentence a convicted sex offender, ³ required to be maintained by the trial court and the prosecuting attorney⁴ and open to public inspection. ⁵ Zink's request was not made to a medical provider for medical records; public or private. Clearly, Division I cannot simply ignore the decision made in Koenig v. Thurston County, by the Supreme Court that SSOSA evaluations are sentencing documents.

3. The Opinion Distinguishes Between Requesters in Opposition to RCW 42.56.080 and Conflicts with Supreme Court Decisions

The Supreme Court in *Koenig v. Thurston County* mandated that SSOSA evaluations are not exempt, redaction was not necessary and the SSOSA

³ [T]he SSOSA evaluation principally provides a basis for the court to impose sentencing alternatives. *Koenig v. Thurston County*, 175 Wn.2d 837, ¶30, 287 P.3d 523 (2012). It is used by a sentencing court to determine whether a defendant charged with a sex offense is amenable to treatment (*Id*.¶26). Because the PRA requires that exemptions be narrowly construed, we decline to protect documents that are created to aid a court in its sentencing decision (*Id*. ¶31).

⁴ Both the sentencing judge and the prosecuting attorney's office shall each retain or receive a completed copy of each sentencing document as defined in this section for their own records. RCW 9.94A.480.

⁵ Any and all recommended sentencing agreements or plea agreements and the sentences for any and all felony crimes **shall be made and retained as public records** if the felony crime involves: (2) Any most serious offense as defined in this chapter...RCW 9.94A.475(2)(emphasis added).

evaluations must be disclosed to Koenig (*Id.* ¶31-32). Here, Division I opined that Zink is not entitled to even redacted SSOSA evaluations (A2; A14). Division I's decision distinguishes between requesters, in conflict with Supreme Court decisions and violates the Legislative mandate that requesters be treated equally ("Agencies shall not distinguish among persons requesting records...") RCW 42.56.080; (identity of requester irrelevant since agencies shall not distinguish among requesters) *Cornu-Labat v. Hosp. Dist. No. 2 of Grant County*, 177 Wn.2d 221, ¶33, 298 P.3d 741 (2013); (inquiry into the legitimacy of the public's concern cannot take into account the identity of the requesting party or the purpose of the request) *Bellevue John Does 1-11 v. Bellevue Sch. Dist. No. 405*, 164 Wn.2d 199, ¶44, 189 P.3d 139 (2008); (agencies shall not distinguish among persons requesting records) *Koenig v. City of Des Moines*, 158 Wn.2d 173, ¶33, 142 P.3d 162 (2006). Division I's opinion that *Koenig v. Thurston County*, is not dispositive here is in conflict with other Supreme Court decisions.

4. Redaction of Public Records is Not Optional it is Mandatory

Division I, citing to *Tacoma Pub. Library v. Woessner*, 90 Wn. App. 205, 224, 951 P.2d 357 (1998) (A14, *fn.* 43), opined that if an agency refuses to redact exempt information from public records, the records are exempt (A2; A8; A14; A15; A23). Division I's opinion is in conflict with Supreme Court decisions and the strongly worded mandate of our Legislature, at the behest of the public, ⁶ for an open and transparent government that reflects the belief that the public should

⁶ Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. Spokane County, 172 Wn.2d 702, ¶17, 261 P.3d 119 (2011).

have full access to information concerning the working of the government (*Amren v. City of Kalama*, 131 Wn.2d 25, 31, 929 P.2d 389 (1997)); (purpose of the PDA is to ensure the sovereignty of the people and the accountability of the governmental agencies that serve them. (*Newman v. King* County, 133 Wn.2d 565, 570, 947 P.2d 712 (1997). Agencies cannot withhold records by refusing to redact exempt information.

Division I, again noting the decision in *Tacoma Pub. Library*, determined the PRA does not allow agencies to withhold records in their entirety (A14), yet mandated that a court was not required to decide whether some portion of the SSOSA evaluation would fall outside the exemption since Doe and DOC framed exemption and disclosure as all or nothing propositions (A14). Division I noted that no evidence was provided as to whether SSOSA evaluations contained exempt information (A13-14); leaving open an opportunity for Zink to ask for incamera review to determine whether any of the records contained non-exempt material responsive to her request (A15, *fn.* 44). Division I did not address the issue of Zink's request, her status as a party to this action⁷ or the burden of proof requirement under the PRA⁸. Division I's opinion regarding redaction of public records is in opposition to numerous Supreme Court decisions.

⁷ A requester is a mandatory and necessary party to an action to enjoin records under RCW 42.56.540. Burt v. Dep't of Corr., 168 Wn.2d 828, ¶24, 231 P.3d 191 (2010).

⁸ The party seeking to enjoin production bears the burden of proving an exemption or statute prohibits production in whole or in part. *Bainbridge Island Police Guild v. City of Puyallup*, 172 Wn.2d 398, ¶13, 259 P.3d 190 (2011).

In *Resident Action Council v. Seattle Hous. Auth.*, 177 Wn.2d 417, 327 P.3d 600 (2013), the Court interpreted the PRA to require agencies to redact and disclose public records.

[T]he PRA provides that exemptions "are inapplicable to the extent that information, the disclosure of which would violate personal privacy or vital governmental interests, can be deleted from the specific records sought." RCW 42.56.210(1); see also RCW 42.56.070."

(*Id.* ¶16). The Court based its opinion on *PAWS v. UW.*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 261, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) (portions of records which do not come under a specific exemption must be disclosed) and *Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn.2d 123, 580 P.2d 246 (1978) (exemptions are inapplicable to the extent that exempt materials in the record can be deleted). Clearly, Division I's decision that SSOSA evaluations are exempt if an agency refuses to redact exempt information is in conflict with case law mandating exemption of entire records is not allowed if exempt information can be redacted.

5. Definition of "Patient" and Healthcare Provider" as Defined by Division I is in Opposition to Deep-Rooted Case Law Clearly Mandating Courts Are To Be Vigilant in Construing Legislature Intent

Division I interpreted RCW 70.02.010(31) 9 very broadly to include anyone who has or will be a patient. "The act defines a "patient" as "an individual who receives or has received health care" (A10). Based on this broad definition of "patient," Division I opined that SSOSA evaluations are exempt from disclosure under the UHCIA (citing RCW 70.02.010(32))(A10, fn. 32). Division I stated

⁹ RCW 70.02.010(32) defines "payment."

DOC is included in the definition of a "health care provider" as the language of RCW 42.56.360(2) incorporates Chapter 70.02 RCW into the PRA which prohibits public inspection and copying of "health care" information of "patients" (A9; A10, fn. 31). This is in conflict with deep-rooted case law instructing courts on the proper interpretation of statutes which focuses on Legislative intent.

a) Interpretation of Statutes

A Court's purpose in interpreting a statute is to determine and enforce our "Legislature's Intent" (*City of Spokane v. Spokane County*, 158 Wn.2d 661, 673, 146 P.3d 893 (2006)). In construing a statute, the Courts are instructed to be vigilant that a statute is construed so as to carry out its purpose as determined by our Legislature. *City of Seattle v. Fontanilla*, 128 Wn.2d 492, 498, 909 P.2d 1294 (1996). The Court in *Koenig v. Thurston County*, 175 Wn.2d 837, 287 P.3d 523 (2012), identified the Legislative intent of the creation of SSOSA evaluations as "sentencing" documents (*Id.* ¶26). Without consideration of the Court's decision in *Koenig* (A8), Division I determined "offenders" are "patients" when they receive an SSOSA evaluation and DOC is a "health care provider" under RCW 42.56.360(2).

Supreme Court decisions mandate that Legislative intent is primarily revealed by the statutory language. *Duke v. Boyd*, 133 Wn.2d 80, 87, 942 P.2d 351 (1997). The plain meaning controls if it is unambiguous. *Nissen v. Pierce County*, 183 Wn.2d 863, ¶27, 357 P.3d 45 (2015). However, if the Legislature omits language, whether intentionally or accidentally, **courts "will not read into the statute the language that it believes was omitted."** (*State v. Moses*, 145 Wn.2d 370, 374, 37

P.3d 1216 (2002 citing to *Jenkins v. Bellingham Mun. Court*, 95 Wn.2d 574, 579, 627 P.2d 1316 (1981))(emphasis added).

Our Courts are required to look at the act in its entirety. *Ockerman v. King County Dep't of Developmental & Envtl. Servs.*, 102 Wn. App. 212, 217, 6 P.3d 1214 (2000). All provisions of an act must be considered, construed together (with all language used) and harmonized in relation to each provision of the act to assure proper construction of each provision. *State ex rel. Royal v. Board of Yakima County Comm'rs*, 123 Wn.2d 451, 459, 869 P.2d 56 (1994). "An interpretation that produces "absurd consequences" must be rejected, since such results would belie legislative intent. State v. Vela, 100 Wn.2d 636, 641, 673 P.2d 185 (1983)." *Troxell v. Rainier Pub. Sch. Dist.*, 154 Wn.2d 345, ¶7, 111 P.3d 1173, (2005).

Division I only defined one provision of an act to discern Legislative intent, finding: a "patient" is defined as anyone who receives or has received health care. Further, Division I determined the language in RCW 42.56.360(2) (Chapter 70.02 RCW applies to public inspection and copying of health care information of patients) to include words that the statute simply does not contain (the DOC is a health care provider). Both of these determinations produce absurd consequences and must be rejected.

b) Combing Definition of Patient and Health Care Provider Under RCW 70.02.020(1)

The language of the UHCIA clearly limits nondisclosure of medical records to those records maintained by a health care provider without the consent of the provider's patient. In order to find SSOSA evaluations exempt from disclosure

under RCW 42.56.360(2), as noted by Division I (A10, fn. 31), the agency must be defined as a "health care provider."

Except as authorized elsewhere in this chapter, a health care provider, an individual who assists a health care provider in the delivery of health care, or an agent and employee of a health care provider may not disclose health care information about a patient to any other person without the patient's written authorization.

RCW 70.02.020(1). "Health care provider" is defined as "a person who is licensed, certified, registered, or otherwise authorized by the law of this state to provide health care in the ordinary course of business or practice of a profession" RCW 70.02.010(18)). No evidence was provided demonstrating DOC uses SSOSA evaluations to provide health care or that DOC correction officers are "authorized" to provide health care. Clearly, when read in conjunction with other provisions of Chapter 70.02 RCW, the Legislative intent in defining a "patient" does not to include "offenders" as "patients" or DOC as a "health care provider."

Division I, opined that RCW 42.56.360(2) incorporates RCW 70.02.020 into the PRA and thus restricts disclosure of SSOSA evaluations by the DOC (A10, fn.31). There is no language in RCW 42.56.360(2) indicating our Legislature intended our penal system be considered a "health care provider." as previously discussed, the DOC is tasked with supervising offenders receiving a SSOSA sentence and not with health care of offenders (RCW 9.94A.501(4)(f))(A5, fn. 15).

DOC does not meet the statutory definition a "health care provider" under RCW 70.020.010(18). The DOC receives a copy of the SSOSA evaluation form

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