RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

3/23/2017 3:35 pm

No. 94203-0

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN DOE G, JOHN DOE I, JOHN DOE J, and JOHN DOE K, as individuals and on behalf of others similarly situated,

Respondents,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Petitioner,

and

DONNA ZINK,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITIONS FOR REVIEW

Prachi V. Dave, WSBA #50498 **ACLU OF WASHINGTON** 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 630 Seattle, WA 98164-2086 pdave@aclu-wa.org Benjamin Gould, WSBA #44093 **KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P.** 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 3200 Seattle, WA 98101-3052 bgould@kellerrohrback.com

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

1. RCW 70.02.230 imposes confidentiality on *anyone* who possesses "information and records compiled, obtained, or maintained in the course of providing mental health services."

RCW 70.02.230 makes SSOSA evaluations confidential, no matter who has them. RCW 70.02.230's first subsection states that "the fact of admission to a provider for mental health services and all information and records compiled, obtained, or maintained in the course of providing mental health services to either voluntary or involuntary recipients of services at public or private agencies must be confidential." RCW 70.02.230(1). This subsection makes confidentiality turn on the *nature* of the "information and records" themselves—i.e., whether they were "compiled, obtained, or maintained in the course of providing mental health services to either voluntary or involuntary recipients . . . at public or private agencies." It does not make confidentiality turn on who holds the information and records. It follows that anyone who holds such information and records must keep them confidential.

-

⁵ Plaintiffs relied on RCW 70.02.230 below, *see* Corrected Br. of Resp'ts 24, 25-26, but the Court of Appeals did not reach whether it applied here, *see* slip op. 10 n.30.

A later subsection in RCW 70.02.230 reemphasizes that confidentiality here depends on the nature of the records rather than on the nature of the custodian. The last subsection of RCW 70.02.230 provides that "except as provided by RCW 4.24.550, any person may bring an action against *an individual* who has willfully released confidential information or records concerning him or her in violation of the provisions of this section." RCW 70.02.230(6)(a) (emphasis added). This language allows an action against "an individual," and not just against a health care provider or facility. Indeed, if RCW 70.02.230 bound only health care providers or facilities, the subsection providing for a civil remedy would be unnecessary, because a different section *already* creates a civil remedy against "a health care provider or facility who has not complied with" chapter 70.02 RCW. RCW 70.02.170(1).

-

⁶ As the quote indicates, RCW 70.02.230(6)(a) cross-references RCW 4.24.550, which permits public officials, on their own initiative, to release certain not otherwise confidential information about sex offenders. Presumably, the cross-reference in RCW 70.02.230(6)(a) to RCW 4.24.550 is meant to refer to RCW 4.24.550(7), which generally immunizes public officials from "civil liability for damages" if they release information pursuant to RCW 4.24.550. Note that RCW 4.24.550 explicitly preserves confidentiality requirements found elsewhere, and thus does not call into question the confidentiality of SSOSA evaluations. *See* RCW 4.24.550(9) (the section does not imply that information is confidential "except as may otherwise be provided by law" (emphasis added)). This Court recently interpreted RCW 4.24.550 not to forbid the production of sex offender registration forms or the State Patrol's sex offender database; SSOSA evaluations were not at issue. *Doe*, 185 Wn.2d at 380.

2. <u>SSOSA evaluations are information or records compiled in the course of providing mental health services at a public or private agency.</u>

Under RCW 70.02.230, SSOSA evaluations are exempted from production. This is true for two independently sufficient reasons.

First, the plain language of RCW 70.02.230(1) encompasses SSOSA evaluations. When certified sex offender treatment providers evaluate offenders under the SSOSA statute, those offenders thereby become "voluntary . . . recipients of services at public or private agencies." RCW 70.02.230(1). The only remaining question is whether the process of evaluation itself counts as "providing mental health services," such that a written SSOSA evaluation—which is compiled "in the course of' that process—qualifies as information "compiled . . . in the course of providing mental health services." RCW 70.02.230(1). The term "mental health services" is not explicitly defined, see RCW 70.02.010, but overlapping language in the definition of "health care" suggests that "mental health services" are a subset of "health care." The term "health care" includes, among other things, a "service . . . provided by a health care provider . . . [t]o diagnose, treat, or maintain a patient's . . . mental condition." RCW 70.02.010(14). As seen above, the process of evaluating

⁷ Or, conceivably, "involuntary" recipients. *See* RCW 9.94A.670(3) (providing that a SSOSA evaluation may be ordered on the court's "own motion or the motion of the state," in addition to being ordered on the motion of "the offender").

an offender under the SSOSA statute is a service provided by a health care provider to diagnose a patient's mental condition. *See supra* pp. 3–4.

Hence, the written SSOSA evaluation counts as information "compiled . . . in the course of providing mental health services."

Second, the way that RCW 70.02.230 interacts with other provisions shows that it encompasses SSOSA evaluations. RCW 70.02.230(1) mandates confidentiality for information and records compiled in the course of providing mental health services to recipients of services at public or private agencies, but also includes a number of exceptions. Several of these exceptions authorize the release, in certain limited circumstances, 8 of "[i]nformation and records related to mental health services." RCW 70.02.240, 70.02.250(1), 70.02.260(1)(a)(ii). Thus, the information and records that RCW 70.02.230 makes confidential must encompass at least "information and records related to mental health services." Otherwise, there would be no need for RCW 70.02.230 to carve out an exception allowing the release of such information and records in certain circumstances. See City of Seattle v. State, 136 Wn.2d 693, 702, 965 P.2d 619 (1998) ("The exception of a particular thing from the operation of the general words of a statute shows that in the opinion of the

-

⁸ No one argues that these exceptions authorize the production of SSOSA evaluations.

law-maker the thing excepted would be within the general words had not the exception been made." (citation and quotation marks omitted)).

"Information and records related to mental health services," in turn, refers to "a type of health care information that relates to all information and records compiled, obtained, or maintained in the course of providing services by a mental health service agency or mental health professional to persons who are receiving or have received services for mental illness." RCW 70.02.010(21). Thus, "information and records related to mental health services" has three elements. First, the information and records must be health care information. Second, they must "relate[] to" information and records compiled, obtained, or maintained in the course of providing services by a mental health service agency or mental health professional. Third, those services must have been or must be provided to persons who have received or are receiving services for mental illness.

SSOSA evaluations satisfy all three of these statutory elements. First, SSOSA evaluations are health care information. *See supra* pp. 3–5. Second, they "relate[] to"—indeed, *actually are*—information and records compiled in the course of a mental health professional's provision of

services to an offender. See supra pp. 14–15. Mental health professionals⁹ compile SSOSA evaluations while providing services, and for those offenders that receive SSOSA sentences, the evaluations also relate to the provision of services that the offenders receive as part of their treatment. Third and last, these services are provided to persons who are receiving or have received services for mental illness. A SSOSA evaluation is itself a service for mental illness, so a recipient of a SSOSA evaluation receives a service for mental illness. Unrebutted evidence in the record indicates that a SSOSA evaluation employs the same clinical approach that would be applied to anyone with a mental disorder that impairs the ability to control sexual behavior. CP 387–88, ¶ 9; see also CP 439, ¶ 13 (SSOSA evaluation "examines whether the individual suffers from a sexual deviancy"). This evidence shows that SSOSA evaluations are designed to assess mental illness. In sum, SSOSA evaluations are information and records related to mental health services, and therefore confidential under RCW 70.02.230.

_

⁹ The definition of "[m]ental health professional," RCW 70.02.010(27), plainly includes the professionals that prepare SSOSA evaluations. *See* WAC 246-930-030(1) (educational requirements for professionals that prepare SSOSA evaluations); *see also* WAC 388-865-0238 (further defining "mental health professional").

E. Contrary to DOC's false dichotomy, otherwise confidential health care information is not excluded from the protections of chapter 70.02 RCW just because it is also used in sentencing.

Although the plain language of chapter 70.02 RCW makes SSOSA evaluations confidential, the DOC argues that SSOSA evaluations are not confidential under chapter 70.02 RCW because they are used in sentencing. DOC Pet. 10–15. The DOC is creating a false dichotomy. SSOSA evaluations have more than one purpose. One of them is to aid a court in sentencing. Another is to diagnose an offender and propose a plan of health care. *See Koenig v. Thurston Cty.*, 175 Wn.2d 837, 847, 287 P.3d 523 (2012) (noting that "a SSOSA evaluation serves *many* important functions" (emphasis added)). The two purposes coexist.

DOC's false dichotomy also conflicts with the language of chapter 70.02 RCW, under which "health care" includes "any care, service, or procedure provided by a health care provider . . . [t]o diagnose, treat, or maintain a patient's physical or mental condition." RCW 70.02.010(14). Nothing indicates that the legislature intended the word "[t]o" to mean "for the sole purpose of." Slip op. 12. And the word "to," when paired with a verb, typically denotes *a* purpose without excluding others. When someone says that she "went to the restaurant to meet a friend," nobody will accuse her of lying if she *also* went there to get a bite to eat. That a SSOSA evaluation may be used for a different purpose down the line does

not negate its immediate purpose as health care. *See also* CP 388, ¶ 9 (expert testimony stating that "the fact that findings and progress are documented in a record provided to the courts and law enforcement does not change the essential nature of the [SSOSA evaluation] process.").

The DOC also argues that because health care information must "directly relate" to a patient's health care, a written SSOSA evaluation's use in the sentencing process disqualifies it as health care information.

This gets things backwards. A SSOSA evaluation *directly* relates to diagnosis and treatment of the offender, and only *indirectly* relates to a sentencing decision. A SSOSA evaluation's immediate purpose is to assess the offender's amenability for treatment, RCW 9.94A.670(3), and it is only *after* a court scrutinizes the SSOSA evaluation that it may make its sentencing decision. A court, after all, cannot make a SSOSA decision "without first knowing whether the offender is amenable to treatment."

State v. Young, 125 Wn.2d 688, 696, 888 P.2d 142 (1995).

II. By declining to order redaction, the Court of Appeals was simply applying well-established rules of waiver.

Petitioners complain that the Court of Appeals did not order redaction of exempt information and the production of nonexempt information. But neither Petitioner asked, in the alternative, for the Court of Appeals to remand for further proceedings if it agreed that SSOSA

evaluations contained exempt information. The court acted well within its discretion when it declined to order that relief *sua sponte*. Appellate courts normally do not order relief for which a party does not ask. *See, e.g.*, *Pearce v. G.R. Kirk Co.*, 92 Wn.2d 869, 875, 602 P.2d 357 (1979) (the Court would not correct damages calculation because issue was waived). Because this issue was waived, review of it is unwarranted.

What makes Petitioners' complaints particularly misplaced is that the Court of Appeals explicitly allowed the trial court, on Zink's motion, to hold further proceedings on redaction. Slip op. 15 n.44. This makes review of the redaction issue doubly unnecessary—not only did Petitioners waive the issue, but the trial court also has the Court of Appeals' blessing to hold further proceedings on redaction after remand.

III. Because Zink failed to challenge the trial court's injunction under RCW 42.56.540, she cannot raise that issue now.

Zink criticizes the Court of Appeals for not analyzing whether the trial court properly entered a permanent injunction under RCW 42.56.540, the provision of the PRA that authorizes injunctions against production. Zink Pet. 17–19. The Court of Appeals did not reach that issue because the injunction's propriety under RCW 42.56.540 was not properly before it.

Neither Petitioner properly challenged the injunction's propriety under RCW 42.56.540. The DOC's opening brief assigned error to the

trial court's injunction, DOC Br. 2, but principally on the ground that the SSOSA evaluations were not exempt from production, not because the trial court misapplied RCW 42.56.540. *See id.* at 3.¹⁰ Zink's opening brief assigned error to a vast slew of matters, including the trial court's permanent injunction and the findings of fact that supported it. Zink Br. 13–14. As Plaintiffs pointed out below, however, Zink failed to support these assignments of error with any argument at all. *See* Corrected Br. of Resp'ts 34 n.11. Because "[a]ssignments of error unsupported by citation of authority or legal argument will not be considered," the Court of Appeals simply followed well-established law when it declined to address the propriety of the trial court's injunction under RCW 42.56.540. *Riksem v. City of Seattle*, 47 Wn. App. 506, 513, 736 P.2d 275 (1987).

IV. Review of the pseudonymity issue is unnecessary.

Zink seeks review of the Court of Appeals' ruling that litigant pseudonymity does not implicate Article I, section 10 of the Washington Constitution. There is no conflict on the issue in the Court of Appeals.

This Court, in passing, has already approved pseudonymity. *N. Am.*

-

¹⁰ The DOC assigned error to three of the subsidiary findings of fact that the trial court entered. The Court of Appeals explicitly rejected one of these assignments of error. *Compare* DOC Br. 2 (assignment of error 2), *with* slip op. 13 & n.41. As for the DOC's two other assignments of error challenging findings of fact, the Court of Appeals noted that the testimony supporting the challenged findings of fact was "unrebutted." *See* slip op. 13. In any event, Zink cannot rely here on *another* appellant's assignments of error.

Council on Adoptable Children v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.,

108 Wn.2d 433, 440, 739 P.2d 677 (1987). Nor does Zink identify any
genuine conflict between the decision below and this Court's precedents.

Zink cites State v. S.J.C., 183 Wn.2d 408, 352 P.3d 749 (2015), but that
case not only concerned a different issue—juvenile records—but also held
that that issue did not implicate Article I, section 10. It is difficult to see
how this holding could conflict with a ruling that pseudonymity, too, does
not implicate Article I, section 10. Zink also quotes broad legal principles
from Hundtofte v. Encarnacion, 181 Wn.2d 1, 330 P.3d 168 (2014), but
identifies nothing in its holding that conflicts with the decision below.

11

V. Precedent bars the argument that CR 23 does not apply here.

In challenging the Court of Appeals' decision that the PRA allows class actions, Zink argues that the Public Records Act is an "express procedural rule" that supersedes the general civil rules. Zink Pet. 24. As the Court of Appeals recognized, precedent forecloses Zink's argument. See Neighborhood All. of Spokane Cty. v. Cty. of Spokane, 172 Wn.2d 702, 716, 261 P.3d 119 (2011). Review of this settled issue is unnecessary.

-

¹¹ Zink claims that Plaintiffs have identified "no 'privacy interest" in support of pseudonymity. Zink Pet. 22. That is false. CP 378–79, 404, 411, 416, 429, 434, 762.

CONCLUSION

The petitions for review should be denied. Should the Court decide to grant review, Plaintiffs respectfully request that it specify the issue or issues on which review is granted, since the petitions raise distinct issues.